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MEMORANDUM 

TO: Honorable Darrell E . Issa, Chairman 
Committee on Oversight and Government Reform 

Stephen Castor, General Counsel 
Committee on Oversight and Government Reform 

FROM: Office of General Counsel 

United States House of Representatives 

DATE: March 25, 2014 

R E : Lois Lerner and the Rosenberg Memorandum 

You advised us that the Committee on Oversight and Goverrmient Reform ("Oversight 

Committee" or "Committee") may consider a resolution recommending that the ful l House hold 

former Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") employee Lois G. Lerner in contempt of Congress for 

refusing to answer questions at a Committee hearing that began on May 22, 2013, and continued 

on March 5, 2014. 

To assist you in determining whether the Committee should take up such a resolution, 

and to assist Committee Members (who, we understand, wi l l be privy to the contents of this 

memorandum) in determining how to proceed i f such a resolution is taken up, you asked that we 

analyze a March 12, 2014 memorandum, prepared by former Congressional Research Service 

("CRS") attomey Morton Rosenberg. That memorandum concludes that "the requisite legal 

foundation for a criminal contempt of Congress prosecution mandated by the Supreme Court 



rulings in [Quinn v. United States, 349 U.S. 155 (1955), Emspalcv. United States, 349 U.S. 190 

(1955), and Bart v. United States, 349 U.S. 219 (1955)] lia[s] not been met" as to Ms. Lerner. 

Mem. from Morton Rosenberg, Leg. Consultant, to Hon. Elijah E. Cummings, Ranking Member, 

H. Comm. on Oversight & Gov't Reform at 4 (Mar. 12, 2014) ("Rosenberg Memorandum"), 

attached to Letter from Hon. Elijah E. Cummings, Ranking Member, H. Comm. on Oversight & 

Gov't Reform, to Hon. John Boehner, Speaker (Mar. 12, 2014). 

By "criminal contempt of Congress prosecution," Mr. Rosenberg presumably means the 

approval of a resolution of contempt by the full House, followed by a referral to the United 

States Attomey for the District of Columbia pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 194, followed by an 

indictment and prosecution pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 192 for "refas[al] to answer . . . question[s] 

pertinent to the" Committee's investigation. I f so, we agree with Mr. Rosenberg that the Quinn 

trilogy of cases articulates a key legal standard that underlies the viability of such a prosecution. 

However, we disagree with his conclusion that that standard has not been satisfied here. 

The question, in brief, is whether Ms. Lerner was "clearly apprised that the [Cjommittee 

demand[ed] [her] answer[s] [to its questions] notwithstanding h[er Fifth Amendment] 

objections." Quinn, 349 U.S. at 166. Based on our review ofthe record, we believe Ms. Lerner 

clearly was so apprised for two independent reasons. First, the Committee formally rejected her 

Fifth Amendment claims and expressly advised her of its determination (a fact that she, through 

her attomey, acknowledged prior to her appearance at the reconvened hearing on March 5, 

2014). Second, the Committee Chairman thereafter advised Ms. Lerner in writing that the 

Committee expected her to answer its questions, and advised her orally, at the reconvened 

hearing on March 5, 2014, that she faced the possibility of being held in contempt of Congress i f 

she continued to decline to provide answers. 
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We now explain our reasoning in more detail. 

PERTINENT FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

The underlying Oversight Committee investigation concerns allegations that the IRS 

subjected organizations applying for tax-exempt status to differing degrees of scrutiny, and/or 

applied to them differing standards of approval, depending on the political orientation of the 

organizations. From the outset, Ms. Lerner, who at all pertinent times was the Director of the 

Exempt Organizations Division of the IRS' Tax Exempt and Government Entities Division, was 

a central figure in the investigation.^ 

Ms. Lerner, accompanied by her experienced personal counsel,^ appeared at the 

Oversight Committee's May 22, 2013 hearing session pursuant to a Committee subpoena which 

commanded her to "appear" and "to testify." Subpoena to Lois Lerner (May 17, 2013) 

("Subpoena"). After being sworn, Ms. Lerner voluntarily made a lengthy statement in which she 

effectively testified about a number of matters, including (i) the fact that she was a lawyer and 

had practiced law at the Department of Justice ("DOJ") and the Federal Election Commission; 

(ii) her experience with the IRS, including, in particular, the Exempt Organizations Division; 

(iii) a May 14, 2013 Treasury Inspector General for Tax Administration ("TIGTA") report which 

concerned issues similar to those being investigated by the Committee and which criticized the 

Exempt Organizations Division headed by Ms. Lerner, see Treasury Inspector Gen. for Tax 

' According to press reports, Ms. Lerner retired from government service, effective September 
23, 2013. See, e.g., John D. McKinnon, Lois Lerner, at Center of IRS Investigation, Retires, 
Wall St. J., Sept. 23, 2013, available at 
http://online.wsi.com/news/articles/SB10001424052702304713704579093461064758006. 

^ Ms. Lerner's counsel, William W. Taylor, I I I , is a senior partner with Zuckerman Spaeder, a 
Washington, D.C.-based law firm. He is a seasoned white-collar criminal defense attomey and 
has prior experience, dating back to the 1980s, representing clients before congressional 
committees. See Zuckerman Spaeder LLP, William W. Taylor, I I I , 
http://www.zuckerman.com/william taylor (last visited Mar. 25, 2014). 
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Admin., Inappropriate Criteria Were Used to Identify Tax-Exempt Applications for Review, Ref. 

No. 2013-10-053 (May 14, 2013), available at 

http://www.treasurv.gov/tigta/auditreports/2013reports/201310Q53fr.pdf; (iv) DOJ's 

investigation into the same matters being investigated by TIGTA; and (v) her asserted innocence: 

" I have done nothing wrong. I have not broken any laws. I have not violated any IRS rules or 

regulations, and I have not provided false information to this or any other congressional 

committee." The IRS: Targeting Americans for Their Political Beliefs: Hr'g Before the H. 

Comm. on Oversight & Gov't Reform, 113th Cong. 22 (May 22, 2013) (statement of Lois 

Lerner). In addition, in conjunction with her statement, Ms. Lerner authenticated a collection of 

her written responses to questions asked of her by TIGTA in the course of its investigation. See 

id. dit 22-23. 

After Ms. Lerner completed her statement, and after she had authenticated the collection 

of her written responses, the following exchange occurred: 

CHAIRMAN ISSA. MS . Lemer, the topic of today's hearing is the 
IRS' improper targeting of certain groups for additional scrutiny 
regarding their application for tax-exempt status. As Director of 
Exempt Organizations of the Tax-Exempt and Government 
Entities Division of the IRS, you were uniquely positioned to 
provide testimony to help this committee better understand how 
and why the IRS targeted these groups. To that end, I must ask you 
to reconsider, particularly in light of the fact that you have given 
not once, but twice testimony before this committee under oath this 
morning. You have made an opening statement in which you 
made assertions of your innocence, assertions you did nothing 
wrong, assertions you broke no laws or rules. Additionally, you 
authenticated earlier answers to the IG. 

At this point I believe you have not asserted your rights, but, in 
fact, have effectively waived your rights. Would you please seek 
[counsel]/or further guidance on this matter while we wait? 

Ms. L E R N E R . I will not answer any questions or testify about the 
subject matter of this committee's meeting. 
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CHAIRMAN ISSA . We will take your refusal as a refusal to testify. 

Id. at 23 (emphases added); see also id. (statement of Rep. Gowdy) ("She just testified. 

She just waived her Fifth Amendment right to privilege. You don't get to tell your side 

of the story and then not be subjected to cross examination. That's not the way it works. 

She waived her right of Fifth Amendment privilege by issuing an opening statement. She 

ought to stay in here and answer our questions."). 

After hearing testimony from the remaining witnesses, the Chairman recessed the May 

22, 2013 hearing session with the following remarks: 

And, with that, at the beginning of this hearing, I called four 
witnesses. Pursuant to a subpoena, Ms. Lois Lerner arrived. We 
had been previously communicated by her counsel - and she was 
represented by her own independent counsel - that she may invoke 
her Fifth Amendment privileges. 

Out of respect for this constitutional right and on advice of 
committee counsel, we, in fact, went through a process that 
included the assumption which was - which I did, which was that 
she would not make an opening statement. She chose to make an 
opening statement. 

In her opening statement, she made assertions under oath in the 
form of testimony. Additionally, faced with the interview notes 
that we received at the beginning of the hearing, I asked her i f they 
were correct, and she answered yes. 

It is - and it was brought up by Mr. Gowdy that, in fact, in his 
opinion as a longtime district attorney, Ms. Lerner may have 
waived her Fifth Amendment rights by addressing core issues in 
her opening statement and authentication afterwards. 

I must consider this. So, although I excused Ms. Lerner, subject to 
a recall, I am looking into the possibility of recalling her and 
insisting that she answer questions in light of a waiver. 

For that reason and with your understanding and indulgence, this 
hearing stands in recess, not adjourned. 
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Id. at 124 (statement of Chairman Issa) (emphasis added). 

On June 28, 2013, the Committee met in public to consider whether Ms. Lerner had 

waived her Fifth Amendment privilege by making her voluntarily statement. The Chairman 

noted that, while he could have ruled on the waiver issue himself during the course of the May 

22, 2013 hearing session, he had chosen the more deliberate course of putting the issue to a 

Committee vote. See Tr. of Bus. Meeting of the H. Comm. on Oversight & Gov't Reform, 113th 

Cong. 4 (June 28, 2013) ("June 28, 2013 Business Meeting Transcripf') (statement of Chairman 

Issa), video record available at http://oversight.house.gov/markup/full-committee-business-

meeting-15. During the intervening 37 days, the Committee had received and considered, among 

other things, Ms. Lerner's views on the waiver issue, as expressed in writing by her counsel on 

her behalf See id. at 5 (entering Ms. Lerner's views into the record). 

The Chairman then expressed his views as follows: 

Having now considered the facts and arguments, I believe Lois 
Lerner waived her Fifth Amendment privileges. She did so when 
she chose to make a voluntary opening statement. 

Ms. Lerner's opening statement referenced the Treasury IG report, 
and the Department of Justice investigation . . . and the assertions 
that she had previously provided false information to the 
committee. She made four specific denials. Those denials are at 
the core of the committee's investigation in this matter. She stated 
that she had not done anything wrong, not broken any laws, not 
violated any IRS rules or regulations, and not provided false 
information to this or any other congressional committee regarding 
areas about which committee members would have liked to ask her 
questions. Indeed, committee members are still interested in 
hearing from her. Her statement covers almost the entire range of 
questions we wanted to ask when the hearing began on May 22. 

Id. 

After a vigorous debate, the Committee approved, by a 22-17 vote, a resolution which 

states in pertinent part as follows: 
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Resolved, That the Committee on Oversight and Government 
Reform determines that the voluntary statement offered by Ms, 
Lemer constituted a waiver of her Fifth Amendment privilege 
against self-incrimination as to all questions within the subject 
matter of the Committee hearing that began on May 22, 2013, 
including questions relating to (i) Ms. Lemer's knowledge of any 
targeting by the Internal Revenue Service of particular groups 
seeking tax exempt status, and (ii) questions relating to any facts or 
information that would support or refute her assertions that, in that 
regard, "she has not done anything wrong," "not broken any laws," 
"not violated any IRS rules or regulations," and/or "not provided 
false information to this or any other congressional committee." 

Res. of the H. Comm. on Oversight & Gov't Reform, 113th Cong. (June 28, 2013) ("June 

28, 2013 Resolution"), available at http://oversight.house.gov/wp-

content/uploads/2013/06/Resolution-of-the-Committee-on-Oversiglit-and-Govemment-

Refomi-6-28-131 .pdf; see also June 28, 2013 Bus. Meeting Tr. at 65-66 (recording vote). 

On February 25, 2014, the Chairman wrote to Ms. Lerner's counsel as follows: 

At [the May 22, 2013 session of] the hearing, Ms. Lerner gave a 
voluntary opening statement, under oath, discussing her position at 
the IRS and professing her innocence. After that opening 
statement, during which she spoke in detail about the core issues 
under consideration at the hearing, Ms. Lemer invoked the Fifth 
Amendment and declined to answer questions from Committee 
Members . . . . I temporarily excused Ms. Lemer from, and later 
recessed, the hearing to allow the Committee to determine whether 
she had waived her asserted Fifth Amendment right. The 
Committee subsequently determined that Ms. Lemer in fact had 
waived that right. 

[Bjecause the Committee explicitly rejected [Ms. Lerner's] Fifth 
Amendment privilege claim, I expect her to provide answers when 
the hearing reconvenes on March 5. 

Letter from Hon. Darrell E. Issa, Chairman, H. Comm. on Oversight & Gov't Reform, to 

William W. Taylor, I I I , Esq., at 1-2 (Feb. 25, 2014) ("Issa February 25, 2014 Letter") (emphasis 

added). Ms. Lerner's counsel responded the next day that "[w]e understand that the Committee 
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voted that she had waived her rights." Letter from William W. Taylor, I I I , Esq., to Hon. Darrell 

E. Issa, Chairman, H. Comm. on Oversight & Gov't Reform, at 1 (Feb. 26, 2014) ("Taylor 

February 26, 2014 Letter"). 

Finally, on March 5, 2014, while still subject to the Subpoena and again accoihpanied by 

her counsel, Ms. Lerner appeared at the reconvened session of the Committee hearing that 

originally began on May 22, 2013. At the outset of the reconvened session, the Chairman stated 

as follows: 

Today, we have recalled Ms. Lois Lerner, the former director of 
Exempt Organizations at the IRS. Ms. Lerner appeared for the 
May 22nd, 2013, hearing under a subpoena, and that subpoena 
remains in effect. 

Before we resume our questioning, I am going to briefly state for 
the record a few developments that have occurred since the hearing 
began 9 months ago. These are important for the record and for 
Ms. Lerner to imow and understand. 

On May 22nd, 2013, after being sworn in at the start of the 
hearing, Ms. Lerner made a voluntary statement under oath 
discussing her position at the IRS and professing her innocence. 

Ms. Lemer did not provide the committee with any advance 
notification of her intention to make such a statement. 

During her self-selected and entirely voluntary statement, Ms. 
Lerner spoke in detail about core issues under consideration at the 
hearing when she stated, " I have not done anything wrong. I have 
not broken any laws. I have not violated any IRS rules or 
regulations, and I have not provided false information to this or 
any other congressional committee." 

At that hearing, a member of the committee, Mr. Gowdy, stated 
that Ms. Lerner had waived her right to invoke the Fifth 
Amendment because she had given a voluntary statement 
professing her innocence. 
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I temporarily excused Ms. Lerner from the hearing and 
subsequently recessed the hearing to consider whether Ms. Lerner 
had in fact waived her Fifth Amendment rights. 

* * * 

At a business meeting on June 28, 2013, the committee approved a 
resolution rejecting Ms. Lerner's claim of Fifth Amendment 
privilege based on her waiver . . . . 

After that vote, having made the determination that Ms. Lerner 
waived her Fifth Amendment rights, the committee recalled her to 
appear today to answer questions pursuant to rules. The committee 
voted and found that Ms. Lerner waived her Fifth Amendment 
rights by making a statement on May 22nd, 2013, and additionally, 
by affirming documents after making a statement of [her] Fifth 
Amendment rights. 

If Ms. Lerner continues to refuse to answer questions from our 
members while she is under a subpoena, the committee may 
proceed to consider whether she should be held in contempt. 

The IRS: Targeting Americans for Their Political Beliefs: Hr'g before the H. Comm. on 

Oversight & Gov't Reform, 113th Cong. 3-5 (Mar. 5, 2014) ("March 5, 2014 Hearing Session") 

(statement of Chairman Issa) (emphases added). 

As the March 5, 2014 Hearing Session proceeded, Ms. Lerner did exactly what the 

Chairman warned her against: She continued to assert the Fifth Amendment and refused to 

answer any questions put to her by the Oversight Committee. 

ANALYSIS 

Part I: The Legal Framework - the Quinn Trilogy 

On May 23, 1955, the Supreme Court released three opinions: Quinn, 349 U.S. 155; 

Emspak, 349 U.S. 190; and Bart, 349 U.S. 219. Al l three opinions concerned witnesses who 

refused to answer questions put to them by a House investigative committee, and all of whom 

then were prosecuted for, and convicted of, violating 2 U.S.C. § 192 for their refusal to answer 

that committee's questions. Section 192 provided then, as it provides now, that: 
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Every person who having been summoned as a witness by the 
authority of either House of Congress to give testimony . . . under 
inquiry before . . . any committee of either House of Congress, 
willfully makes default, or who, having appeared, refuses to 
answer any question pertinent to the question under inquiry, shall 
be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor, punishable by a fine of not 
more than $1,000 nor less than $100 and imprisonment in a 
common jail for not less than one month nor more than twelve 
months. 

In each ofthe three cases (the principal cases on which Mr. Rosenberg relies in opining 

as he does), the Supreme Court considered whether the requisite criminal intent - i.e., "a 

deliberate, intentional refusal to answer," Quinn, 349 U.S. at 165 - could be proved beyond a 

reasonable doubt. The Court articulated the legal standard for resolving that question as follows: 

"[Ujnless the witness is clearly apprised that the committee demands his answer notwithstanding 

his objections, there can be no conviction under § 192 for refusal to answer that question." Id. at 

166; see also id. at 167 (all that is required is "a clear disposition of the witness' objection"); 

Emspak, 349 U.S. at 202 (witness must be "confronted with a clear-cut choice between 

compliance and noncompliance, between answering the question and risking prosecution for 

contempf); Bart, 349 U.S. at 222-23 ("Without such a [clear-cut] ruling [on the witness' 

objection], evidence of the requisite criminal intent to violate § 192 is lacking."). 

The Supreme Court went on to say that the prosecution could establish that the "witness 

[had been] clearly apprised that the committee demands his answer notwithstanding his 

objections," Quinn, 349 U.S. at 166 - and thereby defeat a motion to dismiss a section 192 

indictment - in one of two ways: 

• directly, by demonstrating that the congressional entity - here, the Oversight 

Committee - specifically overruled the witness' objection; or 
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• indirectly, by demonstrating that the congressional entity specifically directed the 

witness to answer.̂  

In Quinn, Emspak and Bart, the Court determined that the House investigative committee 

had done neither (and, as a result, concluded that the witnesses could not be prosecuted under 

section 192): 

At no time did the committee specifically overrule [the witness'] 
objection based on the Fifth Amendment; nor did the committee 
indicate its overruling of the objection by specifically directing 
[the witness] to answer. In the absence of such committee action, 
[the witness] was never confronted with a clear-cut choice between 
compliance and noncompliance, between answering the question 
and risking prosecution for contempt. At best he was left to guess 
whether or not the committee had accepted his objection. 

Quinn, 349 U.S. at 166 (emphasis added). 

At no time did the committee specifically overrule [the witness'] 
objection based on the Fifth Amendment, nor did the committee 
indicate its overruling of the objection by specifically directing 
[the witness] to answer. In the absence of such committee action, 
[the witness] was never confronted with a clear-cut choice between 
compliance and noncompliance, between answering the question 
and risking prosecution for contempt. 

Emspak, 349 U.S. at 202 (emphasis added). 

^ See also Presser v. United States, 284 F.2d 233, 235-36 (D.C. Cir. 1960) (affirming conviction 
upon determining that witness sufficiently apprised of requirement that he testify based on 
Chairman's directing that he do so, notwithstanding absence of any express overruling of 
witness' Fifth Amendment objection); Grossman v. United States, 229 F.2d 775, 776 (D.C. Cir. 
1956) (noting, in discussing Quinn trilogy, that Supreme Court "held that the Committee must 
either specifically overrule the objection or specifically direct the witness to answer despite his 
objection" (emphases added)); United States v. Singer, 139 F. Supp. 847, 848, 853 n.6 (D.D.C. 
1956) ("To lay the necessary foundation for a prosecution under Section 192 . . . a congressional 
investigating committee before whom a witness appears must specifically overrule the objections 
ofthe witness or specifically direct him to answer despite his objections"; "Committee must 
either specifically overi'ule the objection or specifically direct the witness to answer despite his 
objection." (emphases added)), aff'd sub nom. Singer v. United States, 244 F.2d 349 (D.C. Cir.), 
vacated & rev'd on other grounds, 247 F.2d 535 (D.C. Cir. 1957). 
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At no time did tlie committee directly overrule [the witness'] 
claims of self-incrimination or lack of pertinency. Nor was [the 
witness] indirectly informed of the committee's position through a 
specific direction to answer. . . . 

Because of the consistent failure to advise the witness of the 
committee's position as to his objections, [the witness] was left to 
speculate about the risk of possible prosecution for contempt; he 
was not given a clear choice between standing on his objection and 
compliance with a committee ruling. 

Bart, 349 U.S. at 222-23 (emphasis added). 

In ruling as it did, the Supreme Court made clear that the notice to a witness of the 

rejection of his or her objection need not follow "any fixed verbal formula." Quinn, 349 U.S. at 

170; see also Flaxer v. United States, 358 U.S. 147, 152 (1958) C"[T]he committee is not 

required to resort to any fixed verbal formula to indicate its disposition of the objection.'" 

(quoting Quinn, 349 U.S. at 170)). Rather, "[s]o long as the witness is not forced to guess the 

committee's ruling, he has no cause to complain." Quinn, 349 U.S. at 170; accord Flaxer, 358 

U.S. at 152. 

Part I I : Application ofthe Legal Framework Here 

Here, the factual record overwhelmingly supports the conclusion that Ms. Lerner would 

"ha[ve] no cause to complain" i f she were to be indicted and prosecuted under 2 U.S.C. § 192 

because she was "not forced to guess the [Cjommittee's ruling" on her Fifth Amendment claim. 

Quinn, 349 U.S. at 170. This is so for two reasons. 

First, unlike in Quinn, Emspak and Bart, the Oversight Committee specifically overruled 

Ms. Lerner's Fifth Amendment objection (and then advised her that it had done so): 

• By virtue of its June 28, 2013 Resolution, the Committee formally "determine[d] 

that the voluntary statement offered by Ms. Lerner constituted a waiver of her 

Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination as to all questions within 
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the subject matter of the Committee hearing that began on May 22, 2013." June 

28, 2013 Res. 

• The Chairman then stated in his February 25, 2014 letter to Ms. Lerner's counsel 

that "[t]he Committee . . . determined that Ms. Lerner in fact had waived [her 

Fifth Amendment] right," Issa Feb. 25, 2014 Letter at 1, and that "the Committee 

exphcitly rejected [Ms. Lerner's] Fifth Amendment privilege claim," id. at 2. 

• The Chairman then reiterated during the reconvened hearing session on March 5, 

2014 - at which Ms. Lerner physically was present with her counsel - that "[a]t a 

business meeting on June 28, 2013, the committee approved a resolution rejecting 

Ms. Lerner's claim of Fifth Amendment privilege based on her waiver," and that 

"[t]he committee voted and found that Ms. Lerner waived her Fifth Amendment 

rights by making a statement on May 22nd, 2013, and additionally, by affirming 

documents after making a statement of Fifth Amendment rights." Mar. 5, 2014 

Hr'g Session at 4-5. 

It is hard to imagine "a clear[er] disposition of [Ms. Lerner's] objection," Quinn, 349 

U.S. at 167, and plainly she was "left to guess" at nothing, id. at 166. Through her counsel, she 

acknowledged that she "underst[oo]d that the Committee voted that she had waived her rights," 

Taylor Feb. 26, 2014 Letter at 1, and even Mr. Rosenberg admits that the Committee "on June 

28, 2013 . . . reject[ed] Ms. Lerner's privilege claim," Rosenberg Mem. at l!^ 

Given Mr. Rosenberg's explicit acknowledgement of what occurred on June 28, 2013, we are 
at a loss to understand the significance he attaches to the fact that the "Chair [did not] . . . 
expressly overrule [Ms. Lerner's] claim of privilege" on March 5, 2014. Rosenberg Mem. at 2. 
The Chairman did not need to rule on Ms. Lerner's Fifth Amendment claim at the March 5, 2014 
reconvened hearing because the Committee already formally had rejected her claim more than 
eight months earlier. To the extent Mr. Rosenberg implies that the Committee had to re-reject 
Ms. Lerner's Fifth Amendment claim on March 5, 2014, we are aware of no authority that 
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Second, although it was not required to do so (in light of its express rejection of Ms. 

Lerner's Fifth Amendment claim on June 28, 2013, and its communication of that determination 

to her), the Oversight Committee also specifically directed Ms. Lerner to answer its questions, 

and then reinforced that direction by making clear that she risked being held in contempt i f she 

did not comply (again, unlike in Quinn, Emspaic and Barf). In particular: 

• The Chairman stated in his February 25, 2014 letter to Ms. Lerner's counsel that 

"because the Committee explicitly rejected [Ms. Lerner's] Fifth Amendment 

privilege claim, I expect her to provide answers when the hearing reconvenes on 

March 5." Issa Feb. 25, 2014 Letter at 2.̂  

• The Chairman's February 25, 2014 letter was preceded by extensive discussion at 

the Committee's June 28, 2013 pubHc business meeting of the possibility that Ms. 

Lerner could be held in contempt. See, e.g., June 28, 2013 Bus. Meeting Tr. at 24 

(statement of Rep. Mica) ("And the ranking member is correct, she may be held in 

contempt in the future."); id. at 45 (statement of Rep. Meehan) ("To the extent 

that she wil l invoke the Fifth Amendment privilege, and we would hold her in 

contempt, it wil l go before ultimately a qualified court of law."); id. at 53 

(statement of Rep. Lynch) ("[W]e assume that there wil l be a contempt citation 

issued by this Congress."). 

• And, the Chairman's February 25, 2014 letter was succeeded, during the 

reconvened hearing session on March 5, 2014, by this verbal warning: " I f Ms. 

supports such a suggestion, nor has Mr. Rosenberg cited any. Moreover, and in any event, the 
Chairman did reiterate at the March 5, 2014 reconvened hearing, after specifically drawing Ms. 
Lerner's attention to these developments, that, "[a]t a business meeting on June 28, 2013, the 
[Cjommittee approved a resolution rejecting Ms. Lerner's claim of Fifth Amendment privilege 
based on her waiver." Mar. 5, 2014 Hr'g Session at 4-5. 

^ The Rosenberg Memorandum does not mention the Chairman's February 25, 2014 letter. 
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Lemer continues to refuse to answer questions from our members while she is 

under a subpoena, the [Cjommittee may proceed to consider whether she should 

be held in contempt." Mar. 5, 2014 Hr'g Session at 5.̂  

For all these reasons, we do not agree with Mr. Rosenberg that "the requisite legal 

foundation for a criminal contempt of Congress prosecution [against Ms. LernerJ . . . ha[sj not 

been met and that such a proceeding against [herj under 2 U.S.C. [§J 19[2J, i f attempted, wil l be 

dismissed." Rosenberg Mem. at 4. In this Office's opinion, there is no constitutional 

impediment to (i) the Committee approving a resolution recommending that the full House hold 

Ms. Lerner in contempt of Congress; (ii) the full House approving a resolution holding Ms. 

Lerner in contempt of Congress; (iii) i f such resolutions are approved, the Speaker certifying the 

matter to the United States Attorney for the District of Columbia, pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 194; 

and (iv) a grand jury indicting, and the United States Attorney prosecuting, Ms. Lerner under 2 

U.S.C. § 192. 

In other words, contrary to Mr. Rosenberg's conclusion, we think it highly unlikely a 

district court would dismiss a section 192 indictment of Ms. Lerner on the ground that she was 

insufficiently apprised that the Committee demanded her answers to its questions, 

notwithstanding her Fifth Amendment objection. 

This is in sharp contrast to Bart - to which Mr. Rosenberg attaches substantial significance, 
see Rosenberg Mem. at 3 - where a committee Member "suggest[edj to the chairman that the 
witness 'be advised ofthe possibilities of contempt' for failure to respond, but the suggestion 
was rejected [by the chairmanj." Bart, 349 U.S. at 222 (footnote omitted). Here, the Chairman 
expressly advised Ms. Lerner that she risked being held in contempt of Congress i f she continued 
to refuse to answer the Committee's questions. 

15 



Part I I I : Response to Other Rosenberg Conclusions/Theories 

We discuss liere four other respects in which Mr. Rosenberg's legal analysis is flawed. 

1. Mr. Rosenberg appears to contend that the Committee was obligated to warrant in 

some fashion to Ms. Lerner that she would in fact be prosecuted i f she did not answer its 

questions. See Rosenberg Mem. at 2 ("At no time during his questioning [during the March 5, 

2014 reconvened hearing] did the Chair . . . make it clear that [Ms. Lerner's] refusal to respond 

would result in a criminal contempt prosecution."); id. at 3 ("[I]t [was not] made unequivocally 

certain that [Ms. Lerner's] failure to respond [to the Committee's questions] would result in 

criminal contempt prosecution."); id. at 4 ("[T]here could be no certainty for the witness and her 

counsel that a contempt prosecution was inevitable."). But Mr. Rosenberg cites no authority to 

support this "inevitability" proposition, and indeed there is none. Cf. Quinn, 349 U.S. at 166 

(standard is whether witness clearly apprised that committee demands his answer 

notwithstanding his objections; emphasizing that standard requires only that witness be presented 

choice "between answering the question and risJdng prosecution for contempt" (emphasis 

added)); Emspaic, 349 U.S. at 202 (same); Bart, 349 U.S. at 221-22 (same). 

Indeed, there could be no such guarantee because a section 192 prosecution of Ms. Lerner 

would be a multi-step process, involving many different actors, none of whose conduct or 

decisions could be guaranteed in advance. 

• The process would begin with a Committee vote on a resolution recommending to 

the ful l House that Ms. Lemer be held in contempt - and the outcome of that vote 

could not be guaranteed in advance. 
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• Assuming the Committee approved such a resolution, a vote in the full House on 

a resolution of contempt would follow - and the outcome of that vote also could 

not be guaranteed in advance. 

• Assuming the full House approved such a resolution, the Speaker would be 

statutorily obligated to refer the matter to the United States Attorney (an officer of 

a separate branch of the federal govermnent) who would be statutorily obligated 

to present the matter to a grand jury. 

• Assuming the United States Attorney carried out his statutory obligation - again, 

something that could not be guaranteed in advance - a section 192 prosecution of 

Ms. Lerner still would require the return of an indictment by a grand jury that 

does not yet even exist, and whose actions also could not be guaranteed in 

advance. 

In short, i f Mr. Rosenberg were correct, no witness before a congressional committee 

ever could be prosecuted for violating section 192, no matter how contumacious his/her conduct. 

2. Mr. Rosenberg also appears to contend that the Quinn trilogy required the Committee 

iyotii to overrule Ms. Lerner's Fifth Amendment objection and to direct her to answer its 

questions. See Rosenberg Mem. at 3. But this is an incorrect reading of the Supreme Court's 

reasoning in the Quinn trilogy, see supra Analysis, Part I , as confirmed by the D.C. Circuit, both 

in its holding in Presser and in Grossman, see id. at n.3. We are not aware of any case that holds 

otherwise, and Mr. Rosenberg has not cited one.Moreover, Mr. Rosenberg's contention is 

Aside from the Quinn trilogy, Mr. Rosenberg cites no authority on the notice issue other than 
Fagerhaugh v. United States, 232 F.2d 803 (9th Cir. 1956), and Jaclcins v. United States, 231 
F.2d 405 (9th Cir. 1956), neither of which he discusses. Those cases are inapposite here for at 
least two reasons. First, the statements in those cases upon which Mr. Rosenberg presumably 
would rely are dicta. In Fagerhaugh, the House committee neither overruled the witness' Fifth 
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beside the point because the Oversight Committee both overruled Ms. Lerner's Fifth 

Amendment objection, and directed her to answer its questions. See supra Analysis, Part I I . 

3. Mr. Rosenberg also states, immediately after asserting that "a proceeding against Ms. 

Lerner under 2 U.S.C. [§] 19[2], i f attempted, will be dismissed," Rosenberg Mem. at 4, that 

"[sjuch a dismissal wi l l likely also occur i f the House seeks civil contempt enforcement," id. By 

"civil contempt enforcement," Mr. Rosenberg presumably means a subpoena enforcement action 

- like the Committee's subpoena enforcement action against Attorney General Holder in the 

Fast and Furious matter - pursuant to a House resolution authorizing the Oversight Committee to 

initiate such an action against Ms. Lerner.^ 

Amendment objection nor directed the witness to answer after he had asserted his Fifth 
Amendment objection. See 232 F.2d at 804. In fact, after the witness asserted his Fifth 
Amendment objection, "the Committee seem[ed] to abandon the question and proceed[ed] to 
inquire about other matters." Id. at 805. Similarly, in Jackins, the House committee did not 
direct the witness to answer the relevant questions and, as far as the record reveals, also did not 
overrule the witness' objection. See 231 F.2d at 406-07. In short, neither case actually held that 
a section 192 prosecution requires that a witness' objection be overruled and that she be directed 
to answer - because neither court had occasion to actually decide that issue. 

Second, Fagerhaugh and Jackins are not the law in the District of Columbia, where Ms. Lemer 
would be prosecuted i f she were indicted for violating section 192. See Fed. R. Crim. P. 18 
("Unless a statute or these rules permit otherwise, the government must prosecute an offense in a 
district where the offense was committed."); 2 U.S.C. § 192 (not providing for different venue). 
Presser and Grossman, on the other hand, are the law in the District of Columbia, and both say 
that a section 192 prosecution can proceed i f a committee either specifically overrules a witness' 
objection or specifically directs the witness to answer despite her objection. 

Other circuits that have considered this issue agree with the D.C. Circuit that a committee may 
apprise a witness of the necessity of choosing between answering a question and risking 
contempt either by overruling her objection or by directing her to answer. See Braden v. United 
States, 212 F.2d 653, 661 (5th Cir. 1959) (affirming section 192 conviction after inquiring only 
whether committee provided direction to answer; no inquiry into whether objection expressly 
overruled); Davis v. United States, 269 F.2d 357, 362-63 (6th Cir. 1959) (same; emphasizing 
Quinn's admonition that, "'[s]o long as the witness is not forced to guess the committee's ruling, 
[the witness] has no cause to complain'"; "'[T]he committee is not required to resort to any fixed 
verbal formula to indicate its disposition of the objection.'" (quoting Quinn, 349 U.S. at 170)). 

^ See H. Res. 706, 112th Cong. (June 28, 2012) (enacted) (authorizing Oversight Committee to 
initiate civil subpoena enforcement action against Attomey General); cf. H. Res. 711, 112th 
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Such a subpoena enforcement action would be a civil suit and would not arise under 

section 192, which means that criminal intent would not be at issue, and the Quinn trilogy would 

not apply. Cf. supra Analysis, Part I . Accordingly, the assertion that "civil contempt 

enforcement" likely would be dismissed is simply that: a bare assertion that is unsupported by 

any analysis or case law in the Rosenberg Memorandum. 

4. Lastly, we note that Mr. Rosenberg more recently suggested that the Chairman's "last 

question to [Ms.] Lerner [on March 5, 2014] further reflects the uncertainty of what the 

[Cjommittee intended. He asked her whether she still wanted to 'testify' with a week[']s delay, 

referencing communications between the [Cjommittee and her attorney." Michael Stern, Can 

Lois Lerner Skate on a Technicality?, Point of Order (Mar. 20, 2014, 11:46 AM), 

http://www.pointoforder.eom/2014/03/20/can-lois-lerner-skate-on-a-technicalitv/#more-5510 

(scroll down to "Mort Rosenberg responds"); see also Mem. from Louis Fisher to H. Comm. on 

Oversight & Gov't Reform at 2 (Mar. 16, 2014) (suggesting, in similar vein, that (i) Ms. Lerner 

might have been willing to testify had the Committee recalled her one week later, and 

(ii) because Committee did not wait that week, it "has not made the case that [Ms. Lerner] acted 

in contempt. . . . [ , and, i j f litigation resulted, courts are likely to reach the same conclusion"). 

The factual backdrop for these incorrect notions is as follows. 

On March 1, 2014, Ms. Lerner's counsel suggested to a Committee staffer that she might 

testify i f there was a one week delay in the reconvening of the hearing. The Committee's 

General Counsel promptly sought clarification: " I understand . . . that Ms. Lerner is willing to 

testify, and she is requesting a one week delay. In talking . . . to the Chairman, wanted to make 

sure we had this right." E-mail from Stephen Castor, Gen. Counsel, H. Comm. on Oversight & 

Cong. (June 28, 2012) (enacted) (holding Attorney General Eric H. Holder, Jr. in contempt of 
Congress for failure to comply with Oversight Committee subpoena). 
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Gov't Reform, to William W. Taylor, 111, Esq. (Mar. 1, 2014, 2:11 PM EST). One hour later. 

Ms. Lemer's counsel responded "[y]es." E-mail from William W. Taylor, I I I , Esq. to Stephen 

Castor, Gen. Counsel, H. Comm. on Oversight & Gov't Reform (Mar. 1, 2014, 3:10 PM EST). 

Two days later, Ms. Lerner's offer, i f that is what it was, was off the table. Specifically, 

the Committee's General Counsel emailed Ms. Lerner's counsel, on March 3, 2014, as follows: 

We are getting some mixed messages from reporters about your 
current position. . . . You said your client was going to testify and 
requested a one week delay. On Sat[urday, March 1, 2014,] I 
indicated the Chairman would be in a position to confer with his 
members on that request on Monday [March 3, 2014]. Do you 
have a current ask that you want us to take back? I f so please state 
it. 

E-mail from Stephen Castor, Gen. Counsel, H. Comm. on Oversight & Gov't Reform, to 

William W. Taylor, I I I , Esq. (Mar. 3, 2014, 11:01 A M EST). Three hours later, Ms. Lerner's 

counsel responded, ''Ihave no ask. She will appear Wednesday [March 5, 2014]." E-mail from 

William W. Taylor, I I I , Esq., to Stephen Castor, Gen. Counsel, H. Comm. on Oversight & Gov't 

Reform (Mar. 3, 2014, 2:07 PM EST) (emphasis added). 

At the reconvened hearing on March 5, 2014, the Chairman's final question to Ms. 

Lerner - which Messrs. Rosenberg and Fisher both reference - appears to reflect nothing more 

than the Chairman's effort to ascertain for certain Ms. Lemer's position on this issue: 

Ms. Lerner, on Saturday [March 1, 2014], our committee's general 
counsel sent an email to your attorney saying, " I understand that 
Ms. Lerner is willing to testify and she is requesting a 1 week 
delay. In talking . . . to the chairman, wanted to make sure that 
was right." Your lawyer, in response to that question, gave a one 
word email response, "yes." Are you still seeking a 1 week delay 
in order to testify? 
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Mar. 5, 2014 Hr'g Session at 8 (statement of Chairman Issa). Ms. Lerner responded that, "[o]n 

the advice of my counsel, 1 respectfully exercise my Fifth Amendment right and decline to 

answer that question." Id. (statement of Lois Lerner). 

Accordingly, at the time the March 5, 2014 reconvened hearing closed, there was, as a 

matter of fact, no offer on the table by Ms. Lerner to testify in exchange for a one-week delay 

(and no basis for confusion on the part of anyone with access to the facts). Her attomey had 

nixed that idea on March 3, 2014, and Ms. Lerner's fmal Fifth Amendment assertion confirmed 

that she was not willing to testify before the Committee - period. 

In addition, as a legal matter, a witness before a congressional committee who has been 

subpoenaed to testify, as Ms. Lerner was, does not get to choose when to comply. While the 

Committee could have agreed to reschedule Ms. Lemer's testimony, it was not obliged to do so. 

Indeed, i f the law were otherwise, a congressional subpoena would have no force at all because a 

witness always could promise to testify "tomorrow." See, e.g.. United States v. Bryan, 339 U.S. 

323, 331 (1950) ("A subpoena has never been treated as an invitation to a game of hare and 

hounds, in which the witness must testify only i f cornered at the end of the chase. I f that were 

the case, then, indeed, the great power of testimonial compulsion, so necessary to the effective 

functioning of courts and legislatures, would be a nullity."); Eisler v. United States, 170 F.2d 

273, 279 (D.C. Cir. 1948) ("Having been summoned by lawful authority, [the witness] was 

bound to conform to the procedure of the Committee."); Comm. on the Judic., U.S. House of 

Representatives v. Miers, 558 F. Supp. 2d 53, 99 (D.D.C. 2008) ("The Supreme Court has made 

it abundantly clear that compliance with a congressional subpoena is a legal requirement."); 

United States v. Brewster, 154 F. Supp. 126, 134 (D.D.C. 1957) ("[A] witness has no right to set 

his own conditions for testifying or to force the committee to depart from its settled 
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procedures."), rev'd on other grounds, 255 F.2d 899 (D.C. Cir. 1958); accord United States v. 

Orman, 207 F.2d 148, 158 (3d Cir. 1953) ("In general a witness before a congressional 

committee must abide by the committee's procedures and has no right to vary them or to impose 

conditions upon his willingness to testify."). Neither Mr. Rosenberg nor Mr. Fisher has cited any 

case law or other authority to the contrary. 

CONCLUSION 

For all the reasons stated above, it is this Office's considered opinion that Mr. Rosenberg 

is wrong in concluding that "the requisite legal foundation for a criminal contempt of Congress 

prosecution [of Ms. Lerner] . . . ha[s] not been met and that such a proceeding against [her] under 

2 U.S.C. [§] 19[2], i f attempted, wil l be dismissed." Rosenberg Mem. at 4. 
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